Management of Critical Marine Reserves In Int. Waters pg.33

To Esg, or Not to ESG? There Really is no Question pg.46 Treasure From Trash: Corporate Engagement with EfS pg.54

ERSPECTIVES UNDERGRADUATE RESEARCH JOURNAL

WINTER EDITION FOCUS: SUSTAINABILITY VOLUME I



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS	• 3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. 4
PROFESSORS FOREWORDS	5
EDITORS FOREWORD	. 8
TECHNOLOGY SECTION INTRODUCTION	10
STUDYING THE EFFECTS OF POPULATION DECLINE ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF RENEWABLE ENERGY IN EUROPE	. 12
STUDYING THE R&D EXPENDITURE AND STOCK PERFORMANCE OF A HIGH-ESG SCORING COMPANY IN THE DECADE OF TRANSITION	· 21
ECONOMICS SECTION INTRODUCTION	31
MANAGEMENT OF CRITICAL MARINE RESERVES IN THE INTERNATIONAL WATERS OF ANTARCTICA	. 33
FINANCE & BUSINESS SECTION INTRODUCTION	44
TO ESG, OR NOT TO ESG? THERE REALLY IS NO QUESTION	46
MANAGEMENT SECTION INTRODUCTION	•
POLITICAL & DEVELOPMENT ECONOMICS SECTION	
INTRODUCTION	63
ASSESSING COVID'S INFLUENCE ON THE SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENTS OF GOVERNMENTS AROUND THE WORLD	65
HAS THE COVID CRISIS STRENGTHENED OR EXACERBATED SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENTS?	. 75



LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS

EDITORS IN CHIEF

Aleksandra Jaremko	Co-Editor in Chief
Chakri (Jack) Swartz	Co-Editor in Chief

SECTION EDITORS

Zidong Zhang	Technology
Sharanya Seth	Economics
Raees Arif	Finance & Business
Zain Lodhi	Management
Luca Dzikowski	Political & Development Economics

DEPUTY SECTION EDITORS

Pramika Vaseekaran	Finance and Business
Jasmine Binti Surif	Management
Nicole Lim Re Gin	Political & Development Economics

CREATIVE AND ACADEMIC CONTRIBUTORS

Jasmine Binti Surif	Co-Creative Editor
Nicole Lim Re Gin	Co-Creative Editor
Dr. Canh Thien Dang	Academic Advisor



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The entire editorial team would like to thank the Education Committee of KBS for their support in funding *Perspectives*, as this will ensure that the journal will have the resources needed to help support budding academics across King's Business School.

The team would also like to recognise the incredible support from the academic faculty. In particular, we would like to express our heartfelt gratitude to Vice Dean of Education Sally Everett for her commitment to supporting the journal, and for her steadfast belief in its stated purpose. We would like to thank Prof. Mary O'Mahony, as *Perspectives* is rooted in the economics department at KBS, for her contributions towards the original essay competition and for her support in turning the journal from an idea into a reality.

Finally, we would like to thank Dr. Canh Thien Dang for all his efforts as the first advocate for a KBS student journal. He provided tireless support in building up this first edition, and it is no exaggeration to say that without him, *Perspectives* would not exist.



PROFESSOR FOREWORDS

As Vice Dean Education, I am thrilled that King's Business School now has its own undergraduate research journal, edited and written by our students. To say that we are proud of their work, research and unswerving commitment to this project is an understatement - this is a truly wonderful achievement. Our students never fail to impress and inspire me, and this new journal is truly magnificent and worthy of celebration and acknowledgement.

This journal, *Perspectives*, celebrates the independent thought, critical research skills and academic excellence of our student population, and is a wonderful example of our students working in partnership with our academic staff to produce a journal that champions new ways of thinking, challenges dominant discourses in business, economics and finance, and gives our student community a channel for their ideas. It is a showcase of our students' talents and research expertise.

This inaugural edition of *Perspectives* offers a rich collection of papers that stretch across numerous disciplinary boundaries. Whether it be papers addressing the role of technology in fostering sustainability and inclusion, to exploring finance and environmental, social and governance factors in corporate decision-making and political economy, to how education for sustainability promotion in schools can help a transition to a more sustainable future – each and every contribution demonstrates a commitment to responsible leadership, education with purpose and celebrates life-changing business research and practice. I would like to offer my heartfelt thanks to all the writers, editors and academics involved in this wonderful collection. You should be very proud of this tremendous accomplishment. I particularly extend my appreciation to Dr. Canh Dang for initiating the essay competition, kickstarting this journal and for supporting the student writers and editors. I also extend my thanks to the coeditors in chief, Aleksandra Jaremko and Chakri (Jack) Swartz, both of whom I had the pleasure to teach during their time at KBS. My congratulations to the whole team – what you have produced is the start of an exciting journal for us all, and for generations of KBS students to come! Thank you. This is a proud moment for us all.

Professor Sally Everett

Vice Dean Education, King's Business School

I am delighted to introduce King's Business School's own undergraduate research journal that allows students to engage in debate on the major issues facing economies and societies. I cannot think of a better topic for the first issue than sustainability. There has been considerable progress in the past few decades on environmental sustainability in terms of an increasing share of renewables in electricity generation and transport, and changes in attitudes of firms and the public such as on conserving energy and recycling. But there is still much to be done, and this requires buy-in from a range of stakeholders. Fostering discussions among the younger generations is an important element of this progression, which journals like *Perspectives* facilitate.

I would like to congratulate the editors, writers and academics involved for producing an interesting volume and for the work involved in launching this exciting initiative.

> **Professor Mary O'Mahony** Head of the Economics Department, King's Business School

Welcome to the inaugural edition of the King's Business School's Perspectives: Undergraduate Research Journal! As a proud academic advisor to the editorial team of this new journal, I am thrilled to present and have participated in the creation of this new platform that showcases the remarkable research endeavours undertaken by our undergraduate students at King's College London. The new journal is expected to expand the set of activities that KBS is providing to enrich our student experience. Within these pages, you will find a diverse array of academic essays from our undergraduates, ranging from insightful quantitative analyses of contemporary business trends to innovative, qualitative discussions on complex societal challenges. This journal is a testament to the intellectual curiosity and dedication of our undergraduate students, and it reflects the spirit of academic excellence that thrives within the King's Business School community. We hope that this publication serves as both an inspiration and a source of knowledge for years to come, as we continue to foster a culture of inquiry and innovation in pursuit of a brighter future. Thank you for joining us on this exciting journey of exploration and discovery.

Dr. Canh Thien Dang

Lecturer in Economics, King's Business School



EDITORS' FOREWORD

Welcome to *Perspectives*, King's Business School's first undergraduate research journal. Our goal in starting this academic endeavour is to create an environment in which students can engage further with their business studies, offering a destination to demonstrate their research prowess. *Perspectives* will give students the opportunity to publish with an independent journal that still has deep ties with the academic faculty, allowing them the freedom to pursue topics of interest while being supported by the wider KCL network.

Perspectives will be published twice a year, with a winter edition cultivating the best submissions from an essay competition and a spring edition publishing own-research coursework from students. Not only will this allow students to pursue research into topics of interest, but will also create a space to celebrate the best work that happens regularly in Kings' classrooms. *Perspectives* can act as a place to build up independent research skills alongside like-minded peers, fostering a community of undergraduates who will encourage each other to further develop their own business passions.

The team is planning to launch events and workshops throughout the year to promote cutting-edge research and give advice to students, aiding the difficult transition towards writing academic publications. The journal will fill a void currently felt within the King's landscape, as many societies offer vocational events and advice, however, there are few community-oriented resources for the academic aspects. We aim to create a collaborative and inclusive space for those seeking to engage with their degree to a higher level, complete with supportive events and an opportunity to show off their best work. *Perspectives* will be run by students and for students, allowing an internal discussion across a variety of subjects while also projecting outwards the best undergraduate research here at KBS. We are extremely excited to welcome you on this journey with us.

Chakri (Jack) Swartz & Aleksandra Jaremko

Perspectives Co-Editors in Chief



TECHNOLOGY SECTION INTRODUCTION

Welcome to the Technology Section of *Perspectives*, an arena dedicated to discussing the intricate relationships between technologies, firms, economies, and society at large. Specifically, we delve into how technology can address sustainability challenges and promote inclusive economic growth – key issues that are shaping our present and future.

Emerging technologies – particularly big data and artificial intelligence – are not merely exciting scientific pursuits; they are now at the heart of sustainability and economic growth research and serve as indispensable tools for addressing global challenges. It is self-evident that economic policies and business models that are set for future success will adeptly integrate sustainability and technological innovation.

To effectively navigate the intricate nuances of the evolving technological landscape and its implications on sustainability and economic progression, we will focus on several pertinent questions. These include the impact of renewable energy technologies on demographic patterns, the potential for blockchain technologies to establish transparent and traceable supply chains that meet Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) criteria, and the effectiveness of AI-powered algorithms in refining ESG investment strategies. We aim to engage students with these cutting-edge technological inquiries and curate a diverse collection of research articles that offer incisive perspectives.

In the forthcoming articles of this section, we will endeavour to explore the profound implications of technological advancements for businesses, society, and the global economy. We will reflect on the dynamic equilibrium between the theoretical constructs and practical applications, encompassing quantitative data, ethical considerations, and economic interpretations that underpin the domain of technology.

Zidong Zhang *Perspectives Technology Section Editor*

Studying the Effects of Population Decline on the Development of Renewable Energy in Europe

Arthur Garnier

Introduction

The European continent has one of the highest living standards in the world according to the Human Development Index (HDI, 2023). However, the war in Ukraine, the COVID-19 pandemic and wider social and political factors have led to the continent facing two existential crises, namely climate change and population decline. The issues of climate change and the energy transition are currently being combated by almost every government; however, population decline has not received much attention despite its potentially catastrophic effects (Van Dalen et al., 2011). This essay will look at the interaction between the development of renewable energy and the population growth of a country, particularly focusing on high-income countries in Europe. The question posed, therefore, is: does population stagnation or decline lead to a larger share of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a high-income European country? Data from Poudel (2022) on world energy consumption from 2000-2020 will be used to answer this question, as well as population data from the World Bank to test the null hypothesis that population stagnation or decline has no impact on the share of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country (World Bank, n.d.).

Literature Review

This question is worth investigating due to the multitude of different effects population decline or stagnation has on a country. Hummel et al. (2007) state that the negative effects of population decline in European countries are linked to impacts on welfare and pension plan financing, and provides some arguments in favour of stable population decline, specifically focusing on central and

eastern European countries. These arguments are especially focused on sustainability and environmental factors, including the decrease in nominal primary energy consumption for a country. There is a fundamental dichotomy in the arguments for and against population decline in relation to the development of renewable energy: on one end, the decline of economic growth and labour supply would increase costs and reduce development. On the other end, it would reduce energy demand therefore projects would be focused on developing clean energy instead of rushing to meet demand by any means necessary.

Similar studies have been run by Akira (2015) when looking at the effect of population decline on energy consumption in Japan. His findings suggest that economic and energy consumption structures affect electricity demand more than population. Another paper by Vho et al. (2021) looks at the effects of population growth, renewable energy, and economic growth in Southeast Asian nations and finds that "moderating population growth and extending renewable energy usage are vital to achieving sustainable economic growth" (p.I). No paper currently exists that specifically looks at the interaction between population growth and its potential effects on the development of renewable energy.

Methods

The interaction between these two effects is tested using a complete panel data set that is split into three subgroups: stable population, stagnant population, and declining population. A stable population has a long-run average growth rate of more than 0.5%, a stagnant population has a growth rate between 0.0-0.5% and a declining population has a growth rate below 0% (see Appendix A for a list of countries and population trends). The sub-groups and variables are defined below:

Perspectives Undergraduate Research Journal

Variable	Obs.	Mean	St. Dev.	Min.	Max.
Stable Population					
Renewable Energy (%)	180	31.37	32.38	0.00	99.81
Log Population	180	15.23	1.56	12.87	18.02
GDP per Capita ('000)	180	52.46	27.92	10.32	12.40
Electricity Generation (TWh)	180	95.25	110.93	0.41	395.47
Fossil Fuel Energy (%)	180	57.01	41.06	0.19	100.00
Stagnating Population					
Renewable Energy (%)	180	29.15	19.76	1.26	81.47
Log Population	180	16.33	1.22	14.50	18.24
GDP per Capita ('000)	180	35.30	13.78	5.42	64.27
Electricity Generation (TWh)	180	195.09	224.39	13.62	647.90
Fossil Fuel Energy (%)	180	38.13	18.08	6.28	84.53
Declining Population					
Renewable Energy (%)	240	25.53	21.73	0.21	80.14
Log Population	240	15.82	1.06	14.09	17.92
GDP per Capita ('000)	240	14.45	84.48	14.84	40.88
Electricity Generation (TWh)	240	64.02	79.99	2.75	312.50
Fossil Fuel Energy (%)	240	61.94	21.46	15.25	99.79

Table 2.1: Summary Statistics

When trying to plot the effect of population growth on renewable energy through time, the relationship is unclear, as graphs with the percentage of renewables in a country's electricity mix and population across time do not show a clear relationship. As such, a regression analysis is necessary.

The fixed effects regression used is specified below:

$$\begin{split} renewables p_{it} &= \beta_1 * popgrowth_{it} + \beta_2 * lngdp_capita_{it} + \beta_2 * \\ elec_gen_{it} + \beta_3 * fossilp_{it} + \alpha_i + \mu_{it} \\ popgrowth_{it} &= logpop_{it} - logpop_{(i-1)t} \end{split}$$

with renewablesp, the dependent variable, equal to the percentage of country i's electricity grid that is made up of renewable energy at time t. The independent variable, popgrowth, is the natural log of the population of country i at time t lagged by one year to ensure that effects on electricity demand or consumption have time to filter into the economy and energy grid. The variable lngdp_capita controls for the overall level of wealth in a country i at time t. The variable elec_gen controls for the total amount of electricity being generated in country i at time t. Finally, fossilp is a control for the percentage of the electricity mix coming from fossil fuels.

The model specified seeks to find the unbiased effect of population growth on renewable energy development. The GDP per capita, electricity generation and fossil fuel variables control for the wealth level of a country across time which could influence its ability to commit capital to more expensive renewable energy projects. Given electricity generation controls for factors such as weather, industrial mix and electrification that affect overall production regardless of population growth. Finally, fossil fuel mix looks at a country's existing electricity grid to control for the extent of its reliance on fossil fuels. Higher fossil fuel reliance signals that a country has an advantage from their use, either having its own reserves or being in proximity to a country with a plentiful gas supply (I.E. Russia, Norway). It may also signal that the country is not prioritising the development of renewable energy due to political or social factors.

Results of Regression Analysis and Discussion

The regression results for the three sub-groups are as shown in Figure 3.2 below:

Kellewable Electricity (70)				
	Country Fixed Effects			
VARIABLES	Declining	Stable	Stagnating	Total
Population Growth	-3.45** (1.56)	-0.62* (0.36)	0.00 (0.78)	-1.74** (0.80)
Log GDP per Capita	10.91*** (1.42)	1.59*** (0.53)	2.37** (1.01)	7.74*** (0.87)
Electricity Generation	-0.82*** (0.12)	0.01 (0.01)	-0.10*** (0.02)	0.12*** (0.03)
Fossil Fuel %	-0.47*** (0.06)	-0.99*** (0.02)	-1.00*** (0.03)	0.68*** (0.03)
Observations	240	180	180	600
Number of countries	12	9	9	30
Adjusted R-squared	0.343	0.965	0.894	0.533

Renewable Electricity (%)

Standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, **p<0.05, *p<0.1

Figure 3.2: Regression on Time Series Data on the Percentage of Renewable Energy in the Electricity of a Country 2001-2020.

The focus of the study is on the independent variable for population growth, with the rest of the coefficients acting as controls. The results show that for countries with a declining population, when the population goes up by 1%, the percentage of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country goes down by 0.87%, given the average percentage of renewable energy in the electricity grid of 25.53%. For countries with a stagnating population, when the population goes up by 1%, the percentage of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country goes up by 1%, the percentage of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country goes up by 1%, the percentage of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country goes up by 0.11%, given the average percentage of renewable energy in the electricity grid of

29.16%. For countries with a stable population, when the population goes up by 1%, the percentage of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country goes up by 0.37%, given the average percentage of renewable energy in the electricity grid of 31.37%. All these coefficients are significant at the 1% level, and overall, the model is significant.

The results above suggest that in a country with a long-term trend of population decline, a further 1% decline in population would see the percentage of renewable energy in the electricity mix go up by 0.87%. This implies that in countries with stagnating or stable populations, a decline in population would mean the renewable electricity mix goes down.

With these results, the null hypothesis that population stagnation or decline has no impact on the share of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country can be rejected. Population growth has a significant impact on the share of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country. This relationship remains significant at the 1% level in countries with declining, stagnating, and growing populations.

The significance of these results is most important for countries with a declining population. The coefficient is -86.567, meaning when the population goes up by 1% the percentage of renewable energy in the electricity mix of a country goes down by 0.87%. When the population goes down in countries with a declining population, the electricity mix seems to shift more aggressively towards renewables. Therefore, it can be concluded that the effect of diminishing energy demand from a declining population allows for more targeted investment in energy. This is even more significant given the GDP per capita is lowest in countries with a declining population, therefore despite less capital, the electricity mix still changes in a significant way.

Ultimately the lack of demand for energy is a stronger driving force in the energy mix than the ensuing lack of labour supply and economic growth.

These findings therefore suggest that as Europe and other countries face population decline, the resulting lack of energy demand can ultimately help the

energy transition. Furthermore, while countries with declining populations build out more renewables, percentage-wise, as their population goes down, countries with stable growing populations would respond negatively to population decline, perhaps reflecting the diverging economies of both countries. These findings reflect what was found by Akira (2015) in his study of Japan, a country which is experiencing the longest population decline in history. There seems to be endogeneity in the model that explains how population decline can cause an accelerated buildout of renewable energy. Ensuring this relationship expresses a causal link and not a simple correlation is key to the study.

Conclusion and Limitations

This study does have limitations in its scale and scope. Results with different regression methodologies and with more control variables could lead to different results. More advanced regression techniques such as Vector Autoregression could be used in this study given their widespread use in the energy economics literature. Including controls such as education level, R&D spending, capital investment and manufacturing level would have provided additional insight, however, would have greatly expanded the scope of research and finding variables across all observations would have been more difficult.

Ultimately, despite these limitations, thinking further about how population decline is extremely important, especially as most developed countries are or will experience this, including the USA, China, and most Western European nations (Rosenheck, 2017). Understanding how these effects interact can inform unforeseen impacts that demographics will play on the transition to Net Zero Carbon for developed nations.

Bibliography

Human Development Index (HDI) by Country (2023) Human developmentindex (HDI) by country 2023. Available at:https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/hdi-by-country.

Van Dalen, H.P. and Henkens, K., (2011). Who fears and who welcomes population decline?. Demographic Research, 25, pp.437-464.

Poudel, P. (2022) "World Energy Consumption." Available at: https://www.kaggle.com/datasets/pralabhpoudel/world-energy-consumption

World Bank (ed.) (no date) "Population growth (annual %)." Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.GROW (Accessed: February 16, 2023).

Hummel, D. and Lux, A., (2007). Population decline and infrastructure: The case of the German water supply system. Vienna yearbook of population research, pp.167-191.

Goldstone, J., Grinin, L. and Korotayev, A. (2015) History & Mathematics: Political Demography & Global Ageing.

Akira, (2015). Population decline and electricity demand in Japan: myth and facts. IEE Jpn, pp.1-9.

Vo, D.H. and Vo, A.T. (2021) "Renewable energy and population growth for sustainable development in the Southeast Asian countries," Energy, Sustainability and Society, 11(1). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/S13705-021-00304-6.

Rosenheck, D. (2017) Why Europe needs more migrants. The Economist Newspaper. Available at: https://www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2017/07/12/why-europe-needs-more-migrants.

Appendix: List of Countries and Population Trend

Bosnia and Herzegovina	Decl
Bulgaria	Decl
Croatia	Decl
Czechia	Decl
Estonia	Decl
Greece	Decl
Hungary	Decl
Italy	Decl
Latvia	Decl
Lithuania	Decl
Poland	Decl
Portugal	Decl
Cyprus	Stab
Ireland	Stab
Luxembourg	Stab
Malta	Stab
Netherlands	Stab
Norway	Stab
Sweden	Stab
Switzerland	Stab
United Kingdom	Stab
Austria	Stag
Belgium	Stag
Denmark	Stag
Finland	Stag
France	Stag
Germany	Stag
Slovakia	Stag
Slovenia	Stag
Spain	Stag

Studying the R&D Expenditure and Stock Performance of a High-ESG Scoring Company in the Decade of Transition

Zidong Zhang

Introduction

The negative environmental consequences of fossil fuel extraction and have compelled many oil companies combustion to enhance their Environmental, Social. and Governance (ESG) efforts to appeal to environmentally-conscious investors. Consequently, these firms have channelled resources into their research and development departments, aiming to bolster operational efficiency via technological innovations and potentially transition to renewable energy sources. By examining the energy sector and studying a proxy company's financial reports and stock performance over the last decade, this article offers an in-depth analysis of a high-ESG-scoring energy company, evaluating the correlation between its R&D investments and stock performance.

Literature Review

As one of the most popular initiatives in the recent investing world, ESG has drawn the attention of the world's investors. Breaking down the ESG score, it is composed of environmental, social, and governance metrics. These scores provide an in-depth view of a company's commitment to sustainability and ethical practices. Environmental metrics analyse a company's impact on nature, examining its carbon emissions, waste management, and resource conservation. The social aspect explores the company's relations with its stakeholders and the broader community, evaluating factors like worker rights, equal opportunities, and community development. Governance, on the other hand, scrutinizes the internal dynamics of the company, focusing on issues like corporate governance structures, transparency in operations, and the rights of shareholders. For many modern investors, the ESG score isn't just about identifying ethically run companies; it signifies investments that are sustainable and future-ready (Drei et al., 2019).

With increasing awareness about global challenges and a growing dedication to building a sustainable and inclusive economy, ESG scores play a vital role in directing capital towards more responsible and resilient businesses (Bose, 2022). Several empirical studies have tried to discover the correlation between ESG scores and stock performance, albeit with mixed results. While some researchers contend that companies with higher ESG scores yield better returns, others claim that there is no substantial evidence suggesting a correlation between the two (La Torre et al., 2020). Another body of work argues that the correlation between ESG and stock performance may be sector-dependent (Sahut & Pasquini-Descomps, 2015).

Another area that has received attention is the energy sector's research and development (R&D) investments to advance greener technologies. Research by Pinheiro et al., (2023) shows that higher R&D investments tend to show a better ESG performance in the energy sector, particularly in environmental metrics. Rao et al. (2013) caution that the impact of R&D expenditures on financial performance can vary and may take a period of 1-2 years to manifest. This essay will adopt the sector-dependent argument advanced by Sahut and Pasquini-Descomps (2015), focusing on the role of a high ESG-scoring company's research and development (R&D) expenditures in influencing its stock performance. Using a time-series distributed lag model, the subsequent sections will analyse the R&D expenditures and stock performance of EOG Resources, a company with a high ESG score. The findings may offer insights potentially applicable to the broader energy sector, suggesting a correlation between R&D investment, ESG scores, and stock performance.

Methodology

Upon conducting a correlation analysis, the subsequent heatmap was derived

from the ESG dataset of S&P 500 firms. This visualization indicates that a company's environmental and social scores are most strongly correlated with its comprehensive ESG score, evidenced by coefficients of 0.68 and 0.67, respectively. In contrast, the governance metric exhibits a comparatively subdued correlation of 0.45. Furthermore, an in-depth sectoral examination reveals a pronounced positive correlation between each sector's market performance and its respective ESG score.

S&P500 by Sector	Average ESG Score	Performance 2022
Communication Services	19.944444	-39.89%
Consumer Discretionary	19.310345	-37.03%
Consumer Staples	24.566667	-0.62%
Energy	32.761905	+65.72%
Financials	22.666667	-10.53%
HealthCare	23.175439	-1.95%
Industrials	25.523810	-5.48%
Information Technology	17.590909	-22.7%
Materials	26.913043	-12.27%
Real Estate	14.034483	-26.13%
Utilities	30.592593	-1.57%

Table 1.1: Summary Statistics



Graph 1.2: Heatmap

Graph 1.3: Scatter Plots

The scatter plot presents a discernible linear association between the ESG scores and the sectoral stock returns for 2022, characterized by the regression equation y = 3.9568x - 100.88 and a determination coefficient R²=0.6033. This elucidates a favourable correlation between a sector's mean ESG score and its stock performance for the said year. Notably, the energy sector, boasting an average ESG score of 32.76, outperformed the market significantly with an average return of +65.72%.

To further explore the underlying factors for the energy sector's commendable ESG score and substantial stock return performance, a proxy company is scrutinized. EOG Resources, Inc., selected as the proxy company, boasts a prominent ESG score of 39 and a return of 55% within the energy sector in 2022. By delving into its disclosed R&D expenditures from 2009 to 2022 in tandem with its average yearly stock price over this period, this section attempts to answer the question of whether a change in R&D expenditure affects a company's stock performance. Recognizing that R&D expenditures may exert their influence either instantaneously or over an extended duration, the DL(r) model is employed to analyse the dynamic effect of R&D expenditure on stock return performance. Given potential inaccuracies arising from Heteroskedasticity and Autocorrelation (HAC) robust standard errors in smaller samples, this study resorts to heteroskedasticity robust standard errors. Given the relatively constricted sample size, it's postulated-based on prevailing insights-that the impact of most environmental technological innovations begins to manifest in a 1 to 2-year timeframe (Rao et al., 2013). Consequently, the DL(1) model is formulated as follows:

Stock Return_t(1) =
$$\beta_0 + \beta_1 R \& D_t + \beta_2 R \& D_{t-1} + \mu_t$$

A subsequent hypothesis test is further run to evaluate the significance of the cumulative multipliers:

$$H_0: \beta_1 + \beta_2 = 0$$
$$H_a: \beta_1 + \beta_2 \neq 0$$

If we reject the null (p-value \langle significance level), then the cumulative effect of R&D on Stock return is significant. Furthermore, a Granger causality F-test can be performed to make statements about the predictability or "Granger Causality" of R&D_{t-t} to Stock Return_t. More specifically:

$$H_0: \beta_2 = 0$$
$$H_a: \beta_2 \neq 0$$

Results

Table 2.1 provides the regression results. The impact multiplier $\beta_1(0.713)$ captures the contemporaneous effect of R&D expenditure on stock returns, indicating that a unitary percent change in R&D expenditure will have an instant effect on the stock return in the same period, causing it to increase by 0.713%. The coefficient $\beta_2(0.448)$ represents the one-period lagged dynamic multiplier, suggesting that a one percent variation in R&D expenditure from the previous year will translate to a 0.448% increment in the subsequent period's stock performance.

Source	SS	df	MS		er of ob	s =	12
Model Residual	2411.23543 7611.72788	2 9	1205.61772 845.747542	R-sq		= = = d	1.43 0.2899 0.2406 0.0718
Total	10022.9633	11	911.178483			=	29.082
dy	Coefficient	Std. err.	t	P> t	[95%	conf.	interval]
dx							
	.7130982	.4748847	1.50	0.167	3611	657	1.787362
L1.	.4484818	.4634976	0.97	0.359	6000	226	1.496986
_cons	8.794908	8.43558	1.04	0.324	-10.2	877	27.87752

F(1, 9) =2.70F(1, 9) =0.94Prob > F =0.1348Prob > F =0.3585

Table 2.2: Hypothesis Test & Granger Causality F-Test Results

With an F-statistic of 2.70 and a p-value of 0.1348, the hypothesis test results suggest a potential rejection of the null hypothesis at an 85% confidence level. This implies an 85% confidence in the significance of the cumulative effect of R&D expenditure on stock returns. However, at a confidence level of 90% or higher, the evidence is not compelling enough to reject the null hypothesis. Consequently, one would accept the null hypothesis, implying that the cumulative effect of R&D expenditure on stock returns is statistically insignificant. The result of the Granger causality F-test suggests acceptance of the null hypothesis. Failing to reject the null hypothesis at any confidence level above 70% leads to the conclusion that R&D expenditure does not Granger-cause stock return. In essence, R&D expenditure holds no predictive content for stock return performance.

Conclusion and Discussion

In conclusion, the immediate and short-term lagged positive effects of EOG Resources' R&D expenditures on stock returns were discernible. This is unsurprising, given that most technological advancements in energy sector companies focus on greener energy propositions, aiming to bolster their ESG scores, particularly the environmental metrics (Mancini & Paz, 2018). However, the cumulative significance of these expenditures, especially at higher confidence levels, remains inconclusive and R&D expenditure holds no predictive content for stock return performance. The implications of these findings may extend to analogous firms in the energy sector, given the likelihood of shared financial architectures and ESG objectives. This suggests a potential positive correlation between elevated R&D investments and stock returns within these organizations. Nevertheless, the results should be interpreted with caution due to inherent model limitations. First, the data's stationarity requires further

validation through the ADF test. Second, the assumptions underpinning the time-series distributed lag (DL) model, particularly those related to weak exogeneity, may not hold true as the omission of variables correlated with X is very likely and its absence can significantly compromise the model's validity. To achieve a broader perspective, future studies may consider extending the time span, analysing average data across the energy sector, adding on macroeconomic variables and employing a more meticulous selection of lags.

Bibliography

Bose, S. (2020). Evolution of ESG Reporting Frameworks. In: Esty, D.C., Cort, T. (eds) Values at Work. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55613-6_2</u>

Debashish (2022) "overall ESG, Environmental, Social and Governance score", Available at: <u>https://www.kaggle.com/datasets/debashish311601/esg-scores-and-ratings</u>

Drei, A., Le Guenedal, T., Lepetit, F., Mortier, V., Roncalli, T., & Sekine, T. (2019). ESG investing in recent years: New Insights from old challenges. SSRN Electronic Journal. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3683469

Jing Rao, Yiqian Yu, Yu Cao (2013) The effect that R&D has on company performance: comparative analysis based on listed companies of technique intensive industry in China and Japan. International Journal of Education and Research Vol. 1 No. 4 April 2013. <u>https://ijern.com/images/April-2013/40.pdf</u>

La Torre, M., Mango, F., Cafaro, A., & Leo, S. (2020). Does the ESG index affect stock return? evidence from the eurostoxx50. Sustainability, 12(16), 6387. doi:10.3390/su12166387

Macrotrends (ed.) (no date) "EOG Resources - 34 Year Stock Price History | EOG" Available at: <u>https://www.macrotrends.net/stocks/charts/EOG/eog-</u> <u>resources/stock-price-history</u>

Macrotrends (ed.) (no date) "EOG Resources Financial Statements 2009-2023 | EOG" Available at: <u>https://www.macrotrends.net/stocks/charts/EOG/eog-</u> <u>resources/financial-statements</u>

Mancini, L., & Paz, M. J. (2018). Oil sector and technological development: Effects of the mandatory research and development (R&D) investment clause on oil companies in Brazil. Resources Policy, 58, 131–143

doi:10.1016/j.resourpol.2018.04.006

Pinheiro, A. B., Panza, G. B., Berhorst, N. L., Toaldo, A. M., & Segatto, A. P. (2023). Exploring the relationship among ESG, Innovation, and Economic and financial performance: Evidence from the energy sector. International Journal of Energy Sector Management. doi:10.1108/ijesm-02-2023-0008

Sahut, J.-M., & Pasquini-Descomps, H. (2015). ESG impact on Market Performance of firms: International evidence. Management International, 19(2), 40–63. doi:10.7202/1030386ar

Appendix

#the mean of esg scores (all companies)
mean_all = np.mean(esg['Total ESG Score'])
esg_by_sector = esg.groupby('Sector')[['Total ESG Score']].mean()
print("The average of esg socre of all companies is", mean_all)
print(esg_by_sector)

```
ytd2022_returnbysectors = {'Communication Services': [-39.89],'Consumer
Descretionary': [-37.03]
,'Consumer Staples': [-0.62], 'Energy': [65.72]
```

,'Financials': [-10.53], 'Health Care': [-1.95] ,'Industrials': [-5.48], 'Information Technology': [-22.7] ,'Materials': [-12.27], 'Real Estate': [-26.13],'Utilities':[-1.57] }

```
ytd2022_returnbysectors = pd.DataFrame(ytd2022_returnbysectors)
ytd2022 = pd.DataFrame.transpose(ytd2022_returnbysectors)
```

plt.scatter(esg_by_sector,ytd2022) plt.title("esg score vs return by sector 2022") plt.xlabel("ESG score") plt.ylabel("return, percent") plt.text(x=32.761905, y=62.5, s='Energy')

```
# Correlation heatmap
plt.figure(figsize=(8, 5))
sns.heatmap(esg.iloc[:,5:10].corr(), annot, True,vmin=-1,vmax=1, center=0,
cmap='vlag');
```



ECONOMICS SECTION INTRODUCTION

"An economist must be a mathematician, historian, statesman, philosopher- in some degree. He must contemplate the particular in terms of the general and touch abstract and concrete in the same flight of thought. He must study the present in the light of the past to understand the future."

- John Maynard Keynes

While a philosophical abstract, this quote establishes a strong precedent for a benchmark of economic reasoning to aspire to and highlights the breadth of the field. The pursuit of that very rigour of economic analysis lies at the heart of this section of the journal. Over the years the economic discipline has morphed and evolved, bleeding into the fields of psychology, finance, management, environment, etc., underscoring the scope of economic thinking. The last two years have placed us at the epicentre of a hotbed of economic activity with consecutive central bank rate hikes, trade wars and global sanctions, wage-price spirals, emerging geopolitical alliances looking to establish a new world order, banking crises, credit crunches and a resurgent space race. Creating a global environment that is not only conducive to economic analysis, but in dire need of it.

In lieu of the following, this segment of the journal seeks to :

- Question, challenge and further the horizons of economic thinking, seeking new applications and possibilities.
- Sharpen and pursue a rigour of economic analysis and thought, exploring quantitative and qualitative methods.
- Foster a genuine spirit of academic curiosity and collaboration.

Our first article for this year reflects these aims and seeks to apply economic methods to analyze the management of marine reserves in the Ross Sea Marine Protection Area in Antarctica. The Ross Sea is a crucial marine ecosystem from a biodiversity lens and its fisheries constitute an important economic reserve. Renewable resources however are fraught by incomplete property rights and necessitate government intervention. The author artfully establishes the challenges with governing international resources, outlines systemic failures to internalize market externalities, presents a critique of the current command and control framework and offers alternative ways forward.

Lastly, dear reader, thank you for flipping to this section of our journal. Herein lies our genuine attempt to contribute meaningfully to the vast economic literature. We hope you enjoy our perspectives.

Sharanya Seth

Perspectives Economics Section Editor

Management of Critical Marine Reserves in the International Waters of Antarctica: Issues with Current Policy and Evaluation from an Environmental Economics Perspective.

Aleksandra Jaremko

Introduction

The Ross Sea Marine Protection Area (MPA) is a marine reserve in the Southern Ocean surrounding Antarctica that was established as a result of an agreement between the EU and 24 countries following many years of negotiations (Smyth & Hille, 2016). The deal, effective on December 1st 2017, which was signed at the annual meeting of the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR), ensures no commercial fishing is allowed on the area of 1.5 million square kilometres (Slezak, 2016) which constitutes single largest marine sanctuary in the world (Dalton, 2018). The main objective is to protect areas "central to the life cycle of Antarctic toothfish, the region's most important commercial species" (Ashford et al., 2022, p. 1). The ban will expire in 2052.

The political debate around the Ross Sea MPA has involved many stakeholders, including governments, scientific organisations, environmental groups, and industry representatives. There have been numerous rounds of negotiations and proposals with economic interest playing a key aspect in shaping the policy. This essay draws upon environmental economics theory to critically evaluate the difficulties associated with the creation of a marine reserve in international waters and propose policy improvement.

Importance of the Ross Sea fisheries

From the biodiversity perspective, the Ross Sea is important not only for the preservation of unique and important species, but also for the functioning of the wider marine ecosystem (International Union for Conservation of Nature, 2022). It is home to squid, invertebrates, many seabirds, seals, whales and more than 95 species of fish (NZMFAT, 2016). Antarctic toothfish, which is the primary target of fishing activity in the Ross Sea (NIWA, 2021), is an important link in the Southern Ocean's food web (Blight et al. 2010).

The Ross Sea, in particular its Antarctic toothfish fisheries, is also significant from an economic perspective. According to the landings data provided by the CCAMLR – which has the sole responsibility for the management of this species in the Southern Ocean – for the 2011/2012 fishing season, the global market value for this fish could be as high as \$175 million (Kennedy, 2013). This figure, however, does not include illegal, unreported, and unregulated fishing which may even double the total annual catch of the species (Lack, 2001). Additionally, a typical ship can catch as much as 40 tonnes of toothfish in a single haul, amounting to 300 tonnes on a single voyage (Ainley et al., 2012).



Figure 1.1: Map of the Marine Protected Area in the Ross Sea

Tragedy of the Commons

The need for government intervention in the Ross Sea stems from the problematic nature of renewable resources, in particular from the fact that they are rivalrous and characterised by incomplete property rights (Stavins, 2010; Scott, 1955). It is not clearly defined who has property over the resources nor what terms. In other words, the Ross Sea fisheries are non-excludable common pool resources governed by open access which means that prior to the introduction of the MPA, anyone could have harvested as much as they wanted. Additionally, fishermen have to compete for the resources as landings, once caught, are no longer accessible to other fishermen.

	Excludable	Non-Excludable
Rivalrous	Pure Private Goods	Renewable Natural Resources Open access common pool resources such as ocean fisheries
Non-Rivalrous	Club Goods	Pure Public Goods

Table 2.1: Taxonomy of problems in environmental economics

These features will drive every individual firm, and consequently, the market, to not internalise the negative externality of overfishing (Kuralbayeva, 2023). In a perfectly competitive market, a single producer will produce at the level which maximises their profit, i.e., when the private marginal benefit is equal to the private marginal cost (point A in Figure 3.1 below). However, the marginal private benefit does not account for the external costs imposed on society (Hardin, 1968; Gordon, 1954). As a result, the private agent neglects the costs that an additional unit of production will have on the consumption of other agents, including future generations. This leads to a negative externality, causing the market to fail in delivering social allocative efficiency (point B in Figure 3.1).

The red area, ABC, represents the deadweight loss that results from this failure. It signifies the economic inefficiency and the foregone economic value that emerges when the allocation of resources deviates from the socially optimal level, which is represented by point B on the graph. In the context of overfishing, the welfare loss arises due to the overallocation of resources to fishing activities which leads to the depletion of fish stocks and damage to the ecosystem, making society worse off as a whole. In other words, by surpassing the socially optimal level, overfishing exacts higher costs upon society, exacerbating the loss of overall welfare.



Figure 3.1: Marginal Analysis and Deadweight Loss

Challenges Facing Marine Reserves

Social choice mechanism and ethical implications

High economic benefit from toothfish fishing naturally leads to strong opposition to conservation proposals from countries that harvest large amounts. In the 2016/2017 season, the countries that sent the highest number of vessels were: South Korea (6 vessels) and New Zealand, Ukraine, and Russia (3 vessels
each). Three of those countries – South Korea, Russia, and Ukraine alongside China strongly lobbied against the MPA proposal (Mathiesen, 2014).

The social choice mechanism that governs the decision-making of CCAMLR is also problematic (Brooks et al., 2019). All members are required to agree on a decision unanimously which can lead to prolonged process or even impasse when countries veto proposals to pursue own political and economic goals (Mathiesen, 2014; Nyman 2018). In the case of Ross Sea, the initial proposal of 2.28 million squared kilometres was eventually reduced down to 1.55 million to obtain approval (Davis, 2013).

Ethical considerations also arise from the question of who is responsible for making those decisions. The countries that sit on the CCAMLR are those that harvest in the Antarctic water fisheries. In 2016, when the Ross Sea was established, this included delegates from only 24 countries and the European Union. Some of the biggest importers and exporters of toothfish such as Singapore, Canada, and Ecuador (Grilly et al., 2015) were not involved.

Incomplete property rights and practical problems

The way CCAMLR steps in and bans fishing in the Ross Sea is an extreme case of command and control. Responding with command and control to market externalities that result from incomplete property rights, such as with fisheries, is ineffective in controlling the stock and preventing overfishing (Kompas and Gooday, 2007; Steelman, and Wallace, 2001; Quarta, 2020). Establishing a reserve in international waters is more difficult because of the lack of authority of CCAMLR over other parts of the Southern Ocean where Antarctic toothfish, an ontogenetic species that migrate to different locations throughout stages of life (Lack, 2001), such as the Iselin Bank, Pacific-Antarctic Ridge, and the Amundsen Sea where fishing is not monitored (Ashford et al., 2022).

Another factor that reduces the effectiveness of command and control as a policy to protect fish stock is the issue of illegal unreported and unregulated fishing that often occurs when the economic reward is higher than the perceived cost, and that historically has been a problem in the Ross Sea MPA (The Guardian,

```
2015; Brooks et al., 2019).
```

Additionally, after the expiration date, in 35 years similar discussions will have to take place again, leaving the problem of market inefficiency unsolved – if despite the challenges described above the ban works in restoring the population of Antarctic toothfish, eventually overexploitation will occur again, and policymakers will face the same dilemma.

Why command and control?

The final issue to consider is, if command and control is not the best approach then why was it preferred over, for instance, a Pigouvian tax? Firstly, identifying an appropriate tax rate per unit of production is a huge challenge in practice (Stavins, 2010). This can be particularly difficult given the variability in catch rates and lack of knowledge of the size of stock (Lack, 2001, Grilly et al., 2015). The second challenge is that legislating a tax on a good harvested in international waters that is then traded globally could require passing legislature on a level outside of CCAMLR's jurisdiction. Negotiating the terms of such a taxation policy would be much more challenging than it was in the case of a sanctuary. Banning fishing activity was therefore a more feasible option.

Alternative Policy

Establishing an MPA is not sufficient in addressing the market failure generated by fishing activity since the underlying issue of undefined property rights remains unaddressed. The solution would be to "close" this incompleteness with a property-based market instrument (Beare and Newby, 2005). Typically, this is achieved through individual tradable quotas (ITQs) (Steelman and Wallace, 2001). Under ITQs, a specific proportion of the total allowable catch (set at the sustainable level) is assigned to individual agents, who then exchange permits with one another. This approach is cost-effective and ensures that firms are not subject to additional taxation (Stavins, 2010). Furthermore, introducing ITQs could play a positive role in reducing illegal and unreported fishing, as it is in the interest of agents to monitor the competition's catch (Stavins, 2010).

Conclusion

The non-excludable and rivalrous nature of marine resources in the Southern Ocean means that the fisheries in this region are highly vulnerable to overfishing and market failure. This can have devastating effects on the delicate ecosystem, including the depletion of fish stocks, disruption of food chains, and damage to biodiversity. Intervention is necessary to prevent the depletion of stocks and to ensure the sustainability of resources for future generations. One approach to tackling this issue is through command-and-control policies, such as the creation of marine reserves. This essay reviewed the challenges of a command-andcontrol policy which does not necessarily solve the underlying problem of incomplete property rights. Therefore, while command-and-control policies can be effective, in this case they are not sufficient on their own and more complex solutions are needed to eliminate the market failure. A more sustainable strategy would be to, in conjunction with command and control, implement measures, such as ITQs that introduce property rights to the market (Steelman and Wallace, 2001). This will require a collaborative effort between policymakers, fishermen, and other stakeholders to find solutions that are effective, equitable, and sustainable for the long term.

Bibliography

Ainley, D.G. et al. (2012) "Unnatural selection of Antarctic toothfish in the Ross Sea, Antarctica," Protection of the Three Poles, pp. 53–75. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-54006-9_3</u>.

Antarctic Ocean Breakthrough: Ross Sea to become world's largest Marine Protection Area (2022) International ni for Conservation of Nature. Available at: https://www.iucn.org/news/marine-and-polar/201611/antarctic-oceanbreakthrough-ross-sea-become-worlds-largest-marine-protection-area (Accessed: March 12, 2023).

Antarctic toothfish fishery. (2021) National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research (NIWA). Available at: https://niwa.co.nz/fisheries/research-projects/the-ross-sea-trophic-model/toothfish-fishery (Accessed: March 22, 2023).

Antarctic toothfish poaching ships shrug off New Zealand Navy. (2015) The Guardian. Guardian News and Media. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/jan/21/antarctic-toothfish-poaching-ships-shrug-off-new-zealand-navy (Accessed: March 23, 2023).

Ashford, J. et al. (2022) "Tying policy to system: Does the Ross Sea Region Marine Reserve protect transport pathways connecting the life history of Antarctic toothfish?," Marine Policy, 136. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104903</u>.

Beare, S. and Newby, J. (2005) "Incomplete Markets, Excluded Goods and Natural Resource Management." AgEcon Search. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/252502464_Incomplete_Markets_Exclu</u> <u>ded_Goods_and_Natural_Resource_Management</u>.

Blight, L.K. et al. (2010) "Fishing for data in the Ross Sea," Science, 330(6009), pp. 1316–1316. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.330.6009.1316</u>.

Brooks, C.M. et al. (2019) "Reaching consensus for conserving the Global Commons: The case of the Ross Sea, Antarctica," Conservation Letters, 13(1). Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12676</u>.

Dalton, J. (2018) Antarctic Ocean Sanctuary to protect penguins, seals and whales backed by fishing industry, The Independent. Independent Digital News and Media. Available at: https://www.independent.co.uk/climatechange/news/antarctica-krill-fishing-industry-marine-protected-zonegreenpeace-whales-seals-penguins-a8439311.html (Accessed: March 12, 2023).

Davis, J. (2013) US and New Zealand scale back proposal for Ross Sea MPA in bid for other nations' approval, OCTO Open Communications for the Ocean. Available at: https://octogroup.org/news/us-and-new-zealand-scale-backproposal-ross-sea-mpa-bid-other-nations-approval/ (Accessed: March 23, 2023).

Gordon, H. S. (1954) "The Economic Theory of a Common-Property Resource: The Fishery." Journal of Political Economy, 62(2), pp. 124–42. JSTOR, http://www.jstor.org/stable/1825571. (Accessed March 8, 2023)

Grilly, E. et al. (2015) "The price of fish: A global trade analysis of Patagonian (Dissostichus eleginoides) and Antarctic toothfish (Dissostichus mawsoni)," Marine Policy, 60, pp. 186–196. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.06.006</u>.

Hardin, G. (1968). "The tragedy of the commons: the population problem has no technical solution; it requires a fundamental extension in morality," Science, 162(3859), 1243-1248.

Kennedy, R. (2013) "The values of the Antarctic Toothfish (Dissostichus
mawsoni)."Availableat:

https://ir.canterbury.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10092/13876/PCAS_15_Lit_Richard_ KennKen.pdf?sequence=1

Kompas, T. and Gooday, P. (2007) 'The failure of 'command and control' approaches to fisheries management: lessons from Australia', Int. J. Global

Environmental Issues, Vol. 7, Nos. 2/3, pp.174-190

Kuralbayeva, K. (2023) "The economics of renewable resource use," Environmental Economics. King's College London.

Lack, M. (2001) Antarctic Toothfish: An analysis of management, catch and trade. TRAFFIC Oceania. Available at: https://www.traffic.org/site/assets/files/9447/antarctic-toothfish-an-analysis-of-management-catch-and-trade.pdf. (Accessed: March 17, 2023)

List of Authorized Vessels (2022) CCAMLR. Available at: https://www.ccamlr.org/en/compliance/list-authorised-vessels (Accessed: March 15, 2023).

Map of the Ross Sea Marine Protected Area. (2016) New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade (NZMFAT). Available at: https://www.mfat.govt.nz/en/environment/antarctica-and-the-southernocean/ross-sea-region-marine-protected-area/ (Accessed: March 20, 2023).

MarineProtectedAreas.(2020)CCAMLR.Availableat:https://www.ccamlr.org/en/science/marine-protected-areas-mpas(Accessed:March 12, 2023).

Mathiesen, K. (2014) Russia accused of blocking creation of vast Antarctic Marine Reserves, The Guardian. Guardian News and Media. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/oct/31/russia-accused-of-blocking-creation-of-vast-antarctic-marine-reserves (Accessed: March 23, 2023).

New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade (NZMFAT). (2016) We're protecting the Ross Sea region. [Online Image]. Available at: https://www.mfat.govt.nz/assets/Environment/Antarctica-and-the-Southern-Ocean/Ross-Sea/Ross-Sea-MPA-Poster.PDF. (Accessed March 15, 2023)

Nyman, E. (2018) "Protecting the Poles: Marine living resource conservation

approaches in the Arctic and Antarctic," Ocean & Coastal Management, 151, pp. 193–200. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2016.11.006</u>.

Quarta, A. (2020) "Non-Ownership and the Commons: Access and Exclusion in the Life of Communities." Revue de droit de l'Université de Sherbrooke, 50(1-2-3), 255-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/1088134ar</u>

Scott, A. (1955) "The Fishery: The Objectives of Sole Ownership". Journal of Political Economy, 63(2), 116–124. JSTOR, http://www.jstor.org/stable/1827047.

Slezak, M. (2016) World's largest marine park created in Ross Sea in Antarctica in landmark deal, The Guardian. Guardian News and Media. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/oct/28/worlds-largest-marine-park-created-in-ross-sea-in-antarctica-in-landmark-deal

Smyth, J. and Hille, K. (2016) Deal to create vast Antarctic marine park. Financial Times. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/520e0276-9c93-11e6-8324be63473ce146

Stavins, R.N. (2010) "The problem of the commons: Still unsettled after 100 Years," American Economic Review, 101(1), pp. 81–108. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.101.1.81.

Steelman, T.A., and Wallace, R.L. (2001) "Property rights and property wrongs: Why context matters in fisheries management." Policy Sciences, 34, pp. 357–379. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012660302764



FINANCE & BUSINESS SECTION INTRODUCTION

Welcome to the Business and Finance section of *Perspectives* – the section updating you on all things corporate and growing your financial acumen! This curated section of articles explores the dynamic landscape of business and finance in a manner that is succinct not only for those already familiar with emerging trends, but also strives to uncover the most compelling issues for those who are looking to become more polished in their understanding of such literature. This section, whilst emulating an engaging and informative approach, will still maintain its strong foundations in scholarly pursuits. Ensuring that all the complexities and technical jargon that are characteristic of the business and finance terrain are bypassed, this section seeks to ensure the readership attains a comprehensive and critical understanding of the issues most relevant to them.

Recognising the university's robust internship culture enhances the journal's goal of reaching a broader audience. To help students improve their technical knowledge for interviews, regardless of their field of study, the journal needs to adopt a more accessible presentation style. By reinforcing essential concepts and highlighting industry updates, we not only solidify the journal's reputation as a dependable resource for enhancing financial literacy but also foster active engagement with our readers. This is a crucial step toward ensuring the journal's success. We begin with a critical examination of the concept of 'fiduciary duty' and its profound implications for policy formation in the realm of ESG considerations. The author provides insights into how the fiduciary duty framework, which captures employees' requirements to act according to firm/shareholder values, shapes decision-making processes within the corporate world and how it intersects with the imperative to promote sustainability and social responsibility. Through strong engagement with this thought-provoking literature, we hope to encourage you to perceive business and finance as a research interest, alongside its staple interest as a rewarding career pathway.

In forthcoming articles, the journal plans to delve into a spectrum of issues within the realm of business and finance, ones that are also at the heart of research and industry development. Some topics include but are not limited to: the developing landscape of corporate governance, the growing prominence of sustainable and impact investments, and the particular integration of environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues in decision-making processes.

Raees Arif & Pramika Vaseekaran

Perspectives Finance & Business Section Editors

To ESG, or Not to ESG? There Really is No Question: Why directors' fiduciary duty is not a legitimate barrier to the incorporation of ESG initiatives in US firms' corporate governance structure.

Amelia Marshall-Davies

Introduction

The extent to which the consideration of ESG factors in corporate decisionmaking is harmonious with the fiduciary duty of US company directors has become a polarising and politicised point of discussion. Whilst lacking an absolute definition, fiduciary duty is understood to be the legal and ethical obligation of a firm's employees to act in the 'best interests' of the organisation, historically interpreted to mean the maximisation of shareholder returns. As such, the scope of fiduciaries' ability to address environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors has long been questioned, and faces particular scrutiny in the US, where shareholder primacy has dominated corporate governance structure for decades. However, US consumers' expectation of private businesses to tackle ESG issues has begun to develop, and the nation seemingly finds itself in the early stages of a cultural shift away from the shareholder-centric thinking of the past, and towards a redefined nature of the corporation within modern American society. This essay seeks to support the United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative (UNEP FI) assertion that "fiduciary duty is not a legitimate barrier to the incorporation of ESG initiatives in US firms' corporate governance structure" (UNEP FI, 2019). In a modern society, addressing ESG concerns is conducive to maximised long-term financial and reputational success, and is therefore vital to the successful practice of fiduciary duty.

Historical View of Fiduciary Duty

The concept of fiduciary duty is rooted in US common law, traceable back to the 1830 case of Harvard College v. Amory (Harvard College v. Armory, 1830). The fiduciary duty of directors was institutionalised within the US legal system without the guidance of formal written law, it instead evolved through more than a century of common law rulings to emphasise the concept's core principles of loyalty and prudence (Black, 2001). Fiduciary duty was codified in US federal law under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) and defined fiduciaries' responsibility to "act solely in the interests of beneficiaries, using prudence to provide benefits and minimise losses" (Youngdahl, 2014).

Historically, directors' practical interpretation of this has been widely shareholder-centric, with an absolute focus on maximising shareholder value. This aligns closely with Americans' cultural conception of the nature of the corporation, epitomised by Milton Friedman's 1970 essay, "The Social Responsibility of Business Is to Increase Its Profits". Friedman's widely influential work posits that "profit maximisation is the corporations' sole societal duty', popularising the shareholder primacy approach to corporate governance adopted by US firms from the mid-20th century onwards (Lipton, 2022). Through this lens, fiduciary duty is still argued as a legitimate obstacle to addressing ESG issues as part of corporate governance. The ERISA and judicial precedence stress fiduciaries' duty to consider only the financial interests of the beneficiary; any action motivated by factors outside of this, including ethical concerns, is a violation of this duty and could see fiduciaries held personally liable for losses incurred (Schanzenbach, 2020).

The ERISA's constricted definition of 'fiduciary duty' fuels a narrative, argued by some, that corporate governance strategies should be unconcerned with ESGrelated issues. This argument is founded on a lack of comprehension of ESG initiatives' practical application within corporate governance structure, and a gross underestimation of ESG's long-term financial materiality for firms. Sonal Mahida, U.S. Strategic Projects Senior Consultant at PRI, notes the common misconception that addressing ESG issues inherently negatively impacts financial performance (Mahida, n.d.). Morality and righteousness aside, the implementation of ESG policy boasts numerous long-term financial benefits for businesses. Data shows consumer demand is real and mighty for companies addressing ESG issues consumers care about; products making ESG-related claims averaged 28 percent cumulative growth over the past five-year period (Feber, 2020). Furthermore, 2020 US consumer sentiment data from McKinsey shows more than 60 percent of Americans said they'd pay more for a product with sustainable packaging (Feber, 2020). The financial materiality of addressing ESG extends far beyond increased sales and improved profit margins; as ESG policy develops globally, it is the private businesses who are early adopters of ESG monitoring and reporting that will be most successful in futureproofing their operations (Meager, 2021). The pursuit of profit maximisation gives rise to short-termism, rendering directors "myopic to long-term benefits in favour of short-term gains" (Posner, 2017), and thus unable to recognise the necessity of ESG to achieve long-term financial success. Global intermediary the United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative (UNEP FI) asserts ESG issues are inarguably financially material to the scope of directors' duties, and thus the fiduciary duties of loyalty and prudence require the incorporation of ESG issues in order to be fulfilled (UNEP FI, 2019).

The United States Shifts towards ESG

As recognition of the necessity, both financial and ecological, to incorporate ESG issues within the corporate governance structure, the US public's conception of the nature of the corporation has begun to shift, signifying a step away from the nation's long-held attachment to a shareholder primacy interpretation of fiduciary duty. In 2019, the Business Roundtable, whose ranks include the CEOs of most of the major U.S. companies, publicly rejected the shareholder-centric principles of corporate governance it had advocated for since 1997, instead choosing to recognise the necessity of all stakeholders, and committing "to deliver value to all of them, for the future success of our companies, our communities and our country" (Business Roundtable, 2019). The backlash to this cultural shift demanding increased action from companies to address ESG issues has become part of a broad conservative agenda. Republican lawmakers

publicly seek to frame ESG policy as an attempt from the left to violate firms' fiduciary duty to act in the best financial interest of shareholders (Rives, 2023). In a speech at the 2022 National Conservatism Conference, West Virginia Treasurer Riley Moore described ESG-based investment policy as "a combination of regulatory, anti-competitive cultural and social manoeuvres aimed at making the free market unfree" (Moore, 2022), serving a stark reminder of the depth of Americans' conviction in the duty of private business to maximise profits. Moore's statement is indicative of a lack of accountability for private business' role in addressing ESG issues in America, in particular issues surrounding sustainability and climate action.

Conclusion

In summary, this essay seeks to support the notion that US directors' fiduciary duties, as outlined in ERISA and judicial precedence, are not only harmonious with the incorporation of ESG factors in decision-making, but require it. Analysis of the financial materiality of ESG factors to US firms reveals it to be within the scope of the core principles of loyalty and prudence, and opponents of this view fall subject to misconceptions and short-termism. Whilst the US begins to redefine the nature of the corporation within modern society, federal policy, which is currently lacking, may be beneficial to alleviate public misconception of the scope of ESG and fiduciary duty.

Bibliography

'Strong, state-based network' fuels opposition to ESG investment. (n.d.). Retrieved 17 April 2023, from <u>https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-news-</u> <u>headlines/strong-state-based-network-fuels-opposition-to-esg-investment-</u> <u>73312994</u>

Bernard Black, The Principal Fiduciary Duties of Boards of Directors , 4 April 2001 from <u>https://www.oecd.org/daf/ca/corporategovernanceprinciples/1872746.pdf</u> Fiduciary Duty in the 21st Century – United Nations Environment – Finance Initiative. (2019). Retrieved 17 April 2023, from <u>https://www.unepfi.org/investment/history/fiduciary-duty/</u>

Harvard College & Massachusetts General Hospital v. Armory (1830). LII / LegalInformationInstitute.Retrieved17April2023,https://www.law.cornell.edu/wex/harvard_college_massachusetts_general_hospital v. armory (1830)

McKinsey. (n.d.). How US consumers view sustainability in packaging | Retrieved 17 April 2023, from <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/paper-forest-products-and-packaging/our-insights/sustainability-in-packaging-inside-the-minds-of-us-consumers</u>

Lipton, M. (2022, November 29). Understanding the Role of ESG and Stakeholder Governance Within the Framework of Fiduciary Duties. The Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance. <u>https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2022/11/29/understanding-the-role-of-esg-and-</u> <u>stakeholder-governance-within-the-framework-of-fiduciary-duties/</u>

Mahida, Fiduciary Duty is Not an Obstacle to Addressing ESG. (n.d.). Intentional Endowments Network. Retrieved 17 April 2023, from https://www.intentionalendowments.org/fiduciary_duty_is_not_an_obstacle_to_a ddressing_esg

Meager, E. (2021, August 10). Time to adapt fiduciary duties for sustainable investing? Capital Monitor. <u>https://capitalmonitor.ai/factor/environmental/time-to-adapt-fiduciary-duties-for-sustainable-investing/</u>

Posner Is there a fix for short-termism? (2017, January 10). Cooley PubCo. <u>https://cooleypubco.com/2017/01/09/is-there-a-fix-for-short-termism/</u>

Primacy, U. S. M. A. from S., & Stakeholders, I. C. to A. (n.d.). Business Roundtable Redefines the Purpose of a Corporation to Promote 'An Economy That Serves All Americans'. Retrieved 17 April 2023, from <u>https://www.businessroundtable.org/business-roundtable-redefines-the-</u> <u>purpose-of-a-corporation-to-promote-an-economy-that-serves-all-americans</u>

Riley Moore. (n.d.). National Conservatism Conference, Miami 2022. Retrieved 17 April 2023, from <u>https://nationalconservatism.org/natcon-3-2022/presenters/riley-moore/</u>

Schanzenbach (n.d.) Reconciling Fiduciary Duty and Social Conscience: The Law and Economics of ESG Investing by a Trustee - ProQuest. Retrieved 17 April 2023, from <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/2374082344?</u> accountid=11862&forcedol=true&parentSessionId=icjd6ubS3jOjOkIT%2BMLKG4 <u>C736pP1ztJcooHfTl8s34%3D&pq-origsite=primo</u>

Youngdal (2014). The basis of fiduciary duty in investment in the United States. PRI. Retrieved 17 April 2023, from <u>https://www.unpri.org/research/the-basis-of-fiduciary-duty-in-investment-in-the-united-states/3018.article</u>



MANAGEMENT SECTION INTRODUCTION

"Management is doing things right; leadership is doing the right things"

- Peter Drucker

This quote eloquently captures the significance of proper management in achieving organisational goals. From the largest corporations across the globe to group assignments in a classroom – wherever there is a goal to be achieved collaboratively, somewhere within you are likely to find derivations of management practices. Management is the process of working with and through others in order to effectively achieve goals.

Increased digitalisation and changing regulations of the global landscape are viewed as an obstacle by some, while others see an opportunity. Regardless of one's stance on the effects of emerging technologies on our world, one thing is for certain: change comes along with it. What used to be pen-and-paper checklists have now translated into digital management tools. Colleagues and team members used to only be accessible in the office or over coffee, now they are always a Teams call or text message away. With all of these changes, how much of existing management practices have been made redundant? Which are the most efficient, and for which organisations? We are excited to see how the field of management shapeshifts around the ever-changing moulds that technology and human behaviour create.

From ideas regarding how corporations and educational institutions can promote sustainability, to the ripple effects of remote work on an increasingly connected world, we hope the essays enclosed in this section inspire further thought into how effective, well-intentioned management practices are incorporated into daily life. This outlook is to create an appreciation of the subject of management and its everlasting impact on society.

Zain Lodhi & Jasmine Surif

Perspectives Management Section Editors

Treasure From Trash: Exploring Corporate Sustainability Engagement with Primary School Students

Chakri Swartz

Abstract

This paper examines the potential benefits of primary school Education for Sustainability (EfS) and the gap between the demand and supply of childhood EfS programmes. Interviews with industry professionals centred around childhood EfS identified three key themes: engagement, relatability, and parental engagement. Younger children prefer interactive curriculums, and the EfS programme should focus on tangible and familiar sustainability topics. In addition, engaging parents in the learning is crucial, as education can increase the behaviour change associated with parent-child discussions of sustainability. This paper proposes an art day where students create artworks from recycled trash to learn about sustainability in a way that satisfies the three key themes. The recommendation serves as a starting point for companies to engage primary school students with EfS and create lasting relationships with the students and their parents. The recommendation is then compared against the SHIFT framework to ensure prolonged sustainable behaviour.

Introduction

There is a growing consensus that education will play a key part in the transition towards a more sustainable future, with various initiatives launched in recent years to implement Education for Sustainability (EfS) in classrooms across the world (Cebrián et al., 2020). Within the UK specifically, a recent policy paper outlined the need for increased sustainability education across all schooling levels, intending to prepare the next generation for the implications of climate change and instil skills to engage with the 440,000 new green jobs that will be created by 2030 (Department for Education, 2022). However, there has been a "traditional lack of attention to early years education" when it comes to EfS, leading to a "lack of resourcing" for primary school sustainability programs (Somerville & Williams, 2015: pg.103). As a result, while there has been a growing demand for primary school-level EfS, there is currently a lack of programs to support it (Ginsburg & Audley, 2020).

This is a gap that needs to be filled, with the UK government expressing a clear interest in collaborating with the private and charity sectors to help achieve their stated EfS goals (Department for Education, 2022). ESG-oriented organisations will benefit from primary school EfS through the creation of long-term climate-conscious consumers, as children introduced to EfS programs from an early age are more likely to develop environmentally responsible behaviours (Chawla & Derr, 2012). In addition, instilling climate-oriented values in children can have a direct impact on parents through a process known as "reverse socialisation", in which children transmit acquired beliefs to their families and prompt behaviour change (Hosany et al., 2022). This paper aims to offer companies a starting point for tapping into the short and long-term benefits of primary school EfS, facilitating the creation of lasting relationships between the company, the students, and their parents.

Methodology

The research for this paper consisted of three semi-structured interviews with industry professionals, done to gain "in-depth" opinions without compromising the natural flow of conversation (Carruthers, 1990: p.65). To mitigate triangulation issues that arise with using semi-structured interviews, academic and industry research was employed to reinforce the claims made by the interviewees. Each interview was conducted over the phone during the spring of 2022, and the participants have been given false names below to preserve previous promises of anonymity.

Name	Job Description	Relevance
Phoebe	Director of an early childhood school	Has extensive experience teaching primary school students and has implemented multiple EfS initiatives within her classrooms
Sam	Global Management Trainee at a leading global brewer	Currently training at a large organisation that prioritises sustainability within its operations. Interviewed to gain an idea of current commercial and environmental trends
Tatiana	Marketing Coordinator at BBC Studios	Employed within the Children's Branding section, and has extensive experience working with partners to create content for children that engages while also educating

Table 1.1: Interviewee Breakdown

Interview Discussions

Over the course of the interviews, three main themes emerged. The first was the topic of engagement, as Phoebe discussed the importance of using visual and interactive stimuli when looking to educate primary school students. She mentioned that younger children do not have the attention span to read through information as the main learning mechanism, instead heavily favouring materials that allow for the students to engage proactively and creatively. This point was also brought up by Tatiana, with her describing how children will be much more likely to engage with material that allows them to be playful and creative. This is backed up by the academic literature, as the use of imagination and creativity has been found to be some of the most effective ways of engaging children with sustainable education (Sundberg et al., 2019). Previous studies have singled out the experiential (Pruneau et al., 2003) and cooperative (Devine-Wright et al., 2004) aspects of EfS to be especially important, as these aspects "had significant

impacts on the attitudes and actions of children" regarding sustainability (Rousell & Cutter-Mackenzie-Knowles, 2020: pg.196).

The second theme was that of relatability, as Tatiana described that the program would need to be "quite consistent and make sense from a child's point of view". She described how it was "good to keep it positive and uplifting", and to focus on delivering the proposed message in a way that the children would understand. Phoebe also mentioned this point, putting particular emphasis on recycling initiatives, as these represented "a very tangible thing that kids can really see and engage with". When focusing specifically on "tangible stuff that they can see and touch", Phoebe noticed that kids were much more engaged with the learning material, especially when it came to environmental curriculums. EfS programs should then consider a "thorough understanding" of primary school students' "beliefs and attitudes" on sustainability, crafting the program around the elements already familiar to them to increase its impact (Brownlee et al., 2013: pg.13).

Finally, it was clear through the interviews that engaging the parents would also be crucial. Phoebe brought up the idea of reverse socialisation, in which ideas introduced to children are taken home to their families, with children then "informing and educating their parents" on sustainability topics brought up in class. Tatiana likewise explained the importance of parents when engaging children, saying that parental involvement and specifically catering to adults as well as students is important when designing educational content. Sam described how modern consumers are now pushing for increased "organisational, personal, and collective responsibility for the communities and the world we live in" and are more willing to give positive feedback in response to green agendas. This increased desire from consumers and parents then allows for an increased opportunity for sustainability conversations at home, with education playing a key role in facilitating those parent-child conversations (Liu et al., 2022). Leveraging educational interactions to start intra-household conversations surrounding sustainability has been found to increase the effect of those conversations by a magnitude of four to eight, leading to higher chances of attitude and behaviour change in both parent and child (ibid).

Recommendations

Based on the professional interviews and the corresponding academic research, it is clear that companies looking to engage with primary school EfS should ensure that their programs are engaging, relatable, and include both the children and parents. These programs should be collaborative and leverage creativity, all while teaching environmental lessons that students can take home with them. One such way this can be done is through an art day for students, where the children will be encouraged to playfully create artwork out of trash while learning about the importance of recycling and taking care of the planet. The school could then host an art show for the parents, displaying the artwork while also hosting educational discussions led by the students themselves.

This would be an extremely visual and interactive way for students to engage with EfS, while also creating the foundation for a lasting relationship between the company hosting the program, the students participating, and their parents. In addition, tackling issues of recycling and waste management are ideal places to start, as it is a topic that children can understand and engage with directly. At the end of the night, the parents would be able to purchase the artwork to take home, creating a pool of capital to use to further engage with the company's existing environmental programs or to be donated to relevant environmental charities.

To ensure the academic validity of this suggestion, the idea will be mapped out onto the SHIFT framework proposed by White et al. (2019). This framework offers a guide on creating prolonged behaviour change, specifically aimed at increasing sustainable actions, with the letters standing for Social Influence, Habit Formation, the Individual Self, Feelings and Cognition, and Tangibility. Essentially, the actions that are most likely to create continued sustainable engagement leverage peer-group factors, induce repeated actions, involve the participants' self-concept, prompt an affective or cognitive reaction, and help make sustainability less abstract (ibid). The art day recommendation conforms to this framework in the following ways:

SHIFT Section	Relevance
Social Influence	By having the art fair take place as a school-wide event, the organising company can create new social norms to promote sustainability (White et al., 2019). Having the entire school participate can create a sense of community (Bateman, 2002), which will aid in nudging individual behaviour towards sustainability through peer influences.
Habit Formation	The company will be able to use the funds raised from the art day to further engage the students with environmental activities, creating lasting habits and attitude formation within the students.
Individual Self	This section applies the theory of the Extended Self, which explains how consumers will integrate physical products into their sense of personality (Belk, 1998). The final product of the art fair is a physical object that took time and creativity to manifest, and it being brought home and put on display could aid in the integration of sustainability into the developing personality of the student.
Feelings and Cognition	This section of the framework, backed up by the interview with Tatiana, warns against letting the context of the programme become too negative, especially when working with children. By having the students engage with creative art processes, the mood should remain positive and light
Tangibility	This section also relates to the final art piece being a physical product that can hang in people's homes, and it can serve as a continuing reminder for acting sustainably. As previously mentioned, the focus on waste management and recycling is a practical way to engage primary school students, as the issues are tangible and already somewhat understood by the children.

Limitations

While the proposed recommendation does conform to existing academic theory and was based on professional interviews, it is only a starting point for companies looking to engage with primary school EfS. The company or organisation itself will likely require its own educational pathway beyond the art fair, however, this idea could serve as a useful tool when looking to initially engage students, parents, and educators. In addition, while the interviewees were relevant to the specific needs of this paper, the small sample size and relatively junior positions of those interviewed also limited the applications of the results. Further research will be needed to study the effectiveness of this specific recommendation, both as it pertains to students' attitude formations and continued sustainable behaviour.

Bibliography

Bateman, H.V., (2002). Sense of community in the school. In Psychological sense of community (pp. 161-179). Springer, Boston, MA.

Belk, R.W. (1998), "Possessions and the Extended Self", Journal of Consumer Research, 15 (2), 139-68

Brownlee, M.T., Powell, R.B. and Hallo, J.C., (2013). A review of the foundational processes that influence beliefs in climate change: Opportunities for environmental education research. Environmental Education Research, 19(1), pp.1-20.

Carruthers, J., (1990). A Rationale for the Use of Semi-structured Interviews. Journal of Educational Administration,28(1).

Cebrián, G., Junyent, M. and Mulà, I., (2020). Competencies in education for sustainable development: Emerging teaching and research developments. Sustainability, 12(2), p.579.

Chawla, L., & Derr, V. (2012). The development of conservation behaviors in childhood and youth. The Oxford handbook of environmental and conservation psychology (pp. 527–555). Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/0xfordhb/9780199733026.013.0028</u>

Department for Education (2022). Sustainability and Climate change: a Strategy for the Education and Children's Services Systems. [online] gov.uk. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sustainability-and-climate-change strategy/sustainability-and-climate-change-a-strategy-for-the-education-and-childrens services-systems.

Devine-Wright, P., Devine-Wright, H. and Fleming, P., (2004). Situational influences upon children's beliefs about global warming and energy. Environmental Education Research, 10(4), pp.493-506.

Ginsburg, J.L. and Audley, S., (2020). "You Don't Wanna Teach Little Kids about Climate Change": Beliefs and Barriers to Sustainability Education in Early Childhood. International Journal of Early Childhood Environmental Education, 7(3), pp.42-61.

Hosany, A.S., Hosany, S. and He, H., (2022). Children sustainable behaviour: A review and research agenda. Journal of Business Research, 147, pp.236-257.

Liu, J., Chen, Q. and Dang, J., (2022). New intergenerational evidence on reverse socialization of environmental literacy. Sustainability Science, pp.1-13.

Pruneau, D., Gravel, H., Bourque, W. and Langis, J., (2003). Experimentation with a socio constructivist process for climate change education. Environmental Education Research, 9(4), pp.429-446.

Rousell, D. and Cutter-Mackenzie-Knowles, A., (2020). A systematic review of climate change education: Giving children and young people a 'voice' and a 'hand' in redressing climate change. Children's Geographies, 18(2), pp.191-208.

Somerville, M. and Williams, C., (2015). Sustainability education in early childhood: An updated review of research in the field. Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood, 16(2), pp.102-117.

Sundberg, B., Areljung, S. and Ottander, C., (2019). Opportunities for education for sustainability through multidimensional preschool science. NorDiNa: Nordic Studies in Science Education, 15(4), pp.358-369.

White, K., Habib, R. and Hardisty, D.J., (2019). How to SHIFT consumer behaviors to be more sustainable: A literature review and guiding framework. Journal of Marketing, 83(3), pp.22-49.



Political & Development Economics Section Introduction

Political economy, in the IMF's words, "is about how politics affects the economy and the economy affects politics." It is an interdisciplinary branch of the social sciences that studies the relationships that exist between individuals, the state, and public policy. Similarly, development economics is a specialized branch of economics with a distinct policy-oriented approach. It delves into the economic development and growth of nations, especially those in the developing world, honing in on strategies and policies to facilitate progress. Its central objective revolves around identifying and advocating for measures that can effectively combat poverty, ameliorate income inequality, and enhance living standards. We will aim to unite these two subjects with essays regarding governmental responses to recent trends, from ESG to artificial intelligence, and how rising economies can best utilise shifts in the business landscape.

In this edition of *Perspectives*, Guaraja Rawat and Caiyi Lin explore varied governmental responses towards sustainability and economic recovery in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. In her work, Guaraja highlights the divergence in responses between developed and emerging economies, identifying notable trends in the approaches of both. While Caiyi evaluates a similar question, she provides a more focused narrative centred around a comparative case study of the United Kingdom and China. The authors' findings hold significant implications for the broader political economy and development discourse, given the need for collective action on sustainability goals. Their work provides an understanding of how the state of a country's economy may influence the prioritisation of its economic goals, thus identifying potential challenges and opportunities in aligning short-term recovery with global long-term sustainability objectives.

Luca Olin Dzikowski & Nicole Lim

Perspectives Political & Development Economics Section Editors

Assessing COVID's Influence on the Sustainability Commitments of Governments Around the World

Gauraja Rawat

Introduction

The coronavirus pandemic has been an unforeseen challenge for governments around the world with lasting impacts on economies and the global society. It has simultaneously highlighted the fragility of our social structures and demonstrated the strength of global collaboration towards external shocks. After experiencing the widespread impacts of the pandemic, governments' responses towards other major shocks such as climate change could also be affected. This essay seeks to analyze whether governments' sustainability measures improved or worsened following the pandemic. Sustainability can be defined through different lenses such as environmental, societal, or economic development. Therefore, this essay focuses only on changes in climate change mitigation policies around the world after 2020. This essay argues that in general during the pandemic, developed countries had a combined focus on economic recovery and environmental sustainability through green recovery packages, whereas developing countries were more vulnerable and prioritised economic recovery over sustainability.

Case Study Analysis

Developed Countries

It is apparent that developed countries focused on both the economic and environmental pillars of sustainability as they aimed to recover their economies while also meeting climate targets through increased green investments. During 2020, the European Union's real GDP fell by 6.1% more than during the 2008 financial crisis (Verwey & Monks, 2021). To counteract these impacts, the EU's long-term budget had the largest stimulus package ever created in Europe with 30% of the funds allocated towards climate change mitigation and adaptation policies (European Commission, 2023). Some key measures were created such as the 'Just Transition Fund', which seeks to invest €19.32 billion over 2021-2027 and aims to transition European countries towards their carbon-neutral goals in energy, environmental rehabilitation, and renewable energy job assistance (ibid.). Each country's individual measures were also green investment focused such as France which released a \$122 billion package in September 2020 with one-third allocated towards green measures (Shipalana & Chigwenya, 2021). Additionally, the climate targets were also increased by the European Union as the European Commission's target increased to 55% by 2030 compared to their previous target of 40% (Climate Action, 2021).



Figure 1.1: EU Budget Composition 2021-2027

The US had a similar combined focus on economics and the environment as it resorted to environmentally friendly measures to tackle inflation and recover struggling businesses. In 2021, the annual inflation rate in the US was 7% and continued increasing throughout 2022 due to supply and demand pressures from the pandemic and Ukraine War (US Inflation Calculator, 2021). To remedy this, the 2022 Inflation Reduction Act was released. This sported measures to support businesses, non-profits, and other organizations through incentivizing transition to renewable energy. Investments in renewable energy were encouraged and production-based tax credits were provided to businesses as part of the Green Power Partners scheme (EPA, 2022).

Developing Countries

In contrast, developing countries were quite vulnerable and focused only on economic stabilization rather than sustainability. For instance, Ghana was impacted dramatically by the pandemic as its GDP growth rate in 2020 was only 0.4% compared to 6.5% in the previous year (Sasu, 2022). A case study in Ghana, which can be extrapolated to similar African economies, demonstrated that government interventions were short-term and focused on restoring livelihood and reducing the immediate impact of Covid-19 such as job losses, lower capital inflows, heightened debt levels, and declining commodity prices. Kenya also focused only on economic recovery as its \$540 million COVID Relief package did not consider any green measures (Shipalana & Chigwenya, 2021). This was also the case in Latin America as Argentina and Colombia spent \$1 billion on fossil fuel-related post-pandemic policies (Stott, 2022). Chile's economic package also consisted of fossil fuel subsidies rather than renewable energy (Stott, 2022).

Regression Analysis

Quantitative analysis also indicates fundamental differences in how the pandemic influenced the sustainability commitments of developed vs. developing economies.

A panel of the top 10 greenhouse gas emitters between 1990-2021 was analyzed (where the EU is a single entity). These top 10 emitters currently account for more than two-thirds of total emissions (Friedrich et al., 2023). In the regression analysis, the pandemic's influence is measured as an independent variable through the number of annual coronavirus cases. Sustainability commitments of governments are measured as a dependent variable through their greenhouse gas emission rates in MtCO2e/year. GDP per capita and population are accounted as control variables.

```
Emission_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Covid_{it} + \beta_2 GDP_{it} + \beta_3 Pop_{it} + \alpha_i + \lambda_t + u_{it}
```

 a_i = country fixed effects λ_t = time fixed effects u_{it} = error term

This panel data regression was performed for the whole sample and further divided into developed vs. developing countries for comparative analysis.

Fixed-effects (within) regression	Number of obs	=	318
Group variable : Country1	Number of groups	=	10
R-sq: Within = 0.3420	Obs per group: min	=	30
Between = 0.3608	avg		31.8
Overall = 0.3306	max		32
corr(u_i, Xb) = -0.8157	F(9,9) Prob > F	= =	:

(Std. err. adjusted for 10 clusters in Country)

Emission	Coefficient	Robust std. err.	t	P> t	[95% conf.	interval]
Covid	0000502	.000031	-1.62	0.140	0001203	.0000199
GDP	0053747	.0152541	-0.35	0.733	039882	.0291326
Pop	.0000109	9.01e-06	1.21	0.256	-9.46e-06	.0000313

Figure 2.1: Regression Results for Whole Sample

Fixed-effects (within) regression	Number of obs =	160
Group variable : Countryl	Number of groups =	5
R-sq: Within = 0.3735	Obs per group: min =	32
Between = 0.3689	avg =	32.0
Overall = 0.2712	max =	32
corr(u_i, Xb) = -0.6392	F(4,4) = Prob > F =	:

(Std. err. adjusted for 5 clusters in Country)

Emission	Coefficient	Robust std. err.	t	P> t	[95% conf.	interval]
Covid	0000184	3.98e-06	-4.61	0.010	0000294	-7.30e-06
GDP	.01149	.0075985	1.51	0.205	0096067	.0325868
Pop	-2.42e-06	4.78e-06	-0.51	0.640	0000157	.0000108

Figure 2.2: Regression Results for Developed Countries in the Sample

Fixed-effects (within) regression Group variable : Country1	Number of obs Number of groups	= 158 = 5
R-sq: Within = 0.5998 Between = 0.7167 Overall = 0.6510	Obs per group: min avg max	= 31.6
corr(u_i, Xb) = -0.8325		= . = .

(Std. err. adjusted for 5 clusters in Country)

Emission	Coefficient	Robust std. err.	t	P> t	[95% conf.	interval]
Covid	000053	.0000341	-1.55	0.195	0001477	.0000417
GDP	.5181689	.2996936	1.73	0.159	3139138	1.350252
Pop	.0000106	6.44e-06	1.64	0.176	-7.31e-06	.0000285

Figure 2.3: Regression Results for Developing Countries in the Sample

The results show that the overall relationship between coronavirus cases and emissions is negative but insignificant at the 5% significance level. This is also the case for developing countries. The relationship is negative and significant for developed countries. This implies that for developed countries, as the number of coronavirus cases increased, emissions decreased. This could be explained through the case study analysis as developed countries tended to employ environment-focused pandemic policies.

Alternative Explanations

Apart from stimulus package composition, there are other explanations for why the sustainability commitments differed for developed and developing economies during the pandemic.

Firstly, developing economies' policy designs seem inadequate for sustainable development. The Emissions Gap Report demonstrated how key developing economies such as China and India have insufficient policy procedures to ensure their targets will be met. India was stated to have no separate carbon removal targets, no annual reporting and limited data on policy scope and coverage (Emissions Gap Report, 2022). China falls short in areas such as policy coverage of all gases, international shipping and aviation in its green policies. It also has restricted reporting procedures such as an absence of annual reporting compared to the EU and US which reduces transparency (Emissions Gap Report, 2022). Thus, insufficient policy design could hinder developing economies' ability to reduce emissions.

Another explanation is that many developing countries rely on international aid for sustainability measures and have limited inward investment towards green measures. As seen in Figure 3.1, Central Africa mainly relies on official development assistance for green finance. Latin America relies on long-term debt or FDI. Thus, as the global economy was impacted by the pandemic, developed countries reduced their aid outflows and developing countries were unable to fully fund different aspects of the economy including sustainability measures. For instance, even though foreign aid was provided to these countries during Covid through organizations such as the African Development Bank which approved a \$10 billion Covid Response Facility, the support was lower than prepandemic levels and thus was inadequate (Shipalana & Chigwenya, 2021). In contrast, developed countries maintained a much higher budget for themselves such as the EU which was able to spend \$77 billion in climate finance alone as reported by the European Investment Bank in the same year (Shipalana & Chigwenya, 2021). Therefore, the \$10 billion received by African countries went to priorities such as economic recovery rather than sustainability measures as they were credit-constrained.



Figure 3.1: International Finance Flows (Shipalana & Chigwenya, 2021)

Further Research

The regression models in Figure 2 has a low R2 of 33% hence, other explanatory factors should be studied as well. The Ukraine War and the resulting energy insecurity is a crucial factor for sustainability analysis as it has shifted the emission trajectories of countries. In 2022, countries such as Germany restarted operations in their coal power stations to compensate for the reduced supply of Russian gas (Kinkartz, 2022). As seen in Figure 4.1, Germany's coal usage which was steadily declining until 2020 has increased and could continue on this path, worsening emissions. To validate the conclusions drawn in this essay, the combined effect of the Ukraine war's increasing emissions and COVID-19 decreasing emissions in developed countries, particularly Germany, could be further studied.



Figure 4.1: Coal Usage for Electricity Generation in Germany: 2015 - 2023

Conclusion

Through the case study and regression analysis, it is evident that developed and developing countries had different sustainability responses following the pandemic. Developed countries witnessed a decrease in emissions as the number of Covid cases increased. This might be because they were able to implement both economic and environmental measures for pandemic relief with green investment packages. In comparison, the pandemic did not instigate emissions reductions in developing countries. Some key reasons could be that developing countries prioritized economic recovery and did not implement sustainable investment measures in their stimulus packages. They were also impacted by inadequate policy designs and foreign aid reduction during the pandemic. Finally, it is important to highlight the limitations of this analysis as the last three years have witnessed many key events overlapping with COVID-19 such as the European energy crisis, recent financial market turmoil etc. Therefore, Covid is not the only key factor influencing policy decisions. More studies and analyses could be conducted to determine the direct causality between pandemic-led changes in government attitudes towards sustainability.

Bibliography

Climate Action, (2021). 2030 Climate Target Plan. Climate Action. https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/european-green-deal/2030-climate-targetplan_en#modal

Friedrich, J., Ge, M., Pickens, A., & Vigna, L. (2023). This Interactive Chart shows Changes in the World's Top 10 emitters. World Resources Institute. <u>https://www.wri.org/insights/interactive-chart-shows-changes-worlds-top-10-</u> <u>emitters</u>

EPA (2022).Summary of Inflation Reduction Act Provisions Related to
Renewable Energy. Environmental Protection Agency.

https://www.epa.gov/green-power-markets/inflation-reduction
act#:~:text=Most%20provisions%200f%20the%20Inflation,%2C%20local%2C%2
oand%20tribal%20organizations.

European Commission (n.d.) Just transition fund. European Commission. <u>https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/find-funding/eu-funding-programmes/just-transition-fund_en</u>

Kinkartz, S. (2022). Germany's Energy U-turn: Coal instead of gas – DW – 08/04/2022. dw.com. <u>https://www.dw.com/en/germanys-energy-u-turn-coal-instead-of-gas/a-62709160</u>

European Commission (2023). Recovery plan for Europe. European Commission. <u>https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/recovery-plan-europe_en</u>

Sasu, D. D. (2022). Ghana: Impact of Covid-19 on GDP Growth 2019-2023. Statista. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/1193428/impact-of-covid-19-on-projected-real-gdp-growth-in-ghana/</u> Shipalana, P., & Chigwenya, C. (2021). The Impact of COVID-19 on Climate Finance and Green Development. South African Institute of International Affairs. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep32593</u>

Stott, M. (2022). Latin America's Post-Pandemic Recovery Looks Browner Than Expected. Financial Times. <u>https://www.ft.com/content/ooa8adf6-79d1-45ee-be7e-087dca9ae72b</u>

US Inflation Calculator. (2023). Current US Inflation Rates: 2000-2023. <u>https://www.usinflationcalculator.com/inflation/current-inflation-rates/</u>

UNEP (2022). Emissions gap report 2022. UN Environment Programme. <u>https://www.unep.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2022</u>

Verwey, M., & Monks, A. (2021). The EU economy after covid-19: Implications for economic governance. CEPR. https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/eu-economy-after-covid-19-implications-economic-governance

Has the Covid Crisis Strengthened or Exacerbated Sustainability Commitments?

Caiyi Lin

Introduction

Sustainability refers to the rational use of limited resources to meet individuals' present needs without harming the interests of future generations (United Nations, 1987). If limited resources can be rationally allocated, it will lay a solid foundation for a better life in both the existing and future societies. Given the finite nature of our planet's resources and the ever-growing demands of a global population, the significance of sustainable development to every country becomes increasingly distinct. However, the recent COVID-19 pandemic has severely affected both the progress being made and the attitudes of countries towards sustainability-related development.

In the context of these observations, this essay will describe the UK and China's approach to sustainability before and after the Coronavirus outbreak. Then, based on their respective national strategies, it will discuss how the pandemic has impacted greater or reduced emphasis on the importance of sustainability. Finally, this essay will explore the potential reasoning behind the countries' choices regarding sustainability and provide relevant predictions.

The UK's Pre-COVID Commitment to Sustainable Development

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, the British government demonstrated a robust commitment to sustainable development, especially in climate change and renewable energy. Climate change has profound impacts on the natural environment, human health, and socioeconomic systems. It endangers biodiversity, raises agricultural costs, and necessitates socio-economic adaptations. Recognizing these challenges, the British government established a primary sustainability strategy focused on mitigating and adapting to climate change. This commitment can be observed in several policy documents and initiatives, such as the UK's Climate Change Act of 2008 and the subsequent carbon budgets, which pursued substantial reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. In specific terms, the government aimed for a 50% carbon emission cut by 2025 from 1990 levels and set a net zero emissions goal for 2050 (Schreurs and Tiberghien, 2010). Moreover, to foster low-carbon technologies, the government dedicated £2.5 billion to energy innovation (Chan et al., 2017) and promoted alternative energy, such as mine thermal power, to reduce emissions.

Another sustainable development goal of the UK is to emphasize its use of renewable energy sources, especially offshore wind energy and biomass energy. In terms of offshore wind energy, with an installed capacity exceeding 10 GW, the UK is a global frontrunner in the offshore wind sector (Allan et al., 2020). Looking ahead, the government's ambitious goal is to amplify this capacity to 40 GW by 2030, which could fulfil nearly one-third of the country's electricity demand (Liebreich, 2013). Another promising area is biomass energy, contributing both to power and heating solutions. In specific terms, it can achieve 27% efficiency in power generation and provide over 80% of heat supply capabilities (Ward and Inderwildi, 2013). By expanding these renewable sectors, the government aims to reduce dependence on non-renewable resources, showcasing its commitment to a sustainable future.

The UK's Post-COVID Commitment to Sustainable Development

The COVID-19 pandemic actually reinforced the British government's commitment to sustainable development. Due to the vulnerabilities the pandemic exposed in terms of climate change, technology, and economic resilience, the government was further motivated to prompt more robust sustainable management plans.

Though 2022, the UK remained steadfast in its ambition to achieve net zero emissions by 2050. To achieve this goal, the government is leveraging artificial intelligence to curb carbon emissions, allocating a potential budget of up to

£1.5 billion for this initiative (Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy and George Freeman MP, 2022). As highlighted by Goralski and Tan (2020), AI has substantially influenced social development and the global economy. Proper and effective use of AI in sustainability can accelerate progress towards these sustainable development goals, enhancing energy efficiency and promoting the shift to low-carbon fuels. This tech-forward approach not only elevates the UK's industrial competitiveness but also propels the nation closer to its emission targets.

Moreover, the British government introduced low-interest financing for related projects to support sustainability within economic challenges. This move came at a time when global economies were reeling from significant downturns after the pandemic, with the UK's economy being no exception. According to the Office for National Statistics (2022), the UK's GDP fell by 19.4% between April to June 2020. In response to these economic challenges and recognizing the integral role of robust financial strategies in sustainability, the government issued sustainable financial instruments such as green bonds and sustainability-linked loans (Caldecott, 2022). These measures underscore the UK's firm commitment to sustainable development and showcase its strategic approach to realising sustainability objectives.

China's Pre-COVID Commitment to Sustainable Development

Before the Coronavirus pandemic, the Chinese government formulated unique sustainable development strategies based on China's national conditions. China's waste classification project serves as convincing evidence of proactive sustainability. Urban centres in China generate nearly 180 million tons of waste, despite a mere 800,000 acres allocated for containment (Yang et al., 2017). Beyond the distinct space constraints, this situation raises significant environmental and public health concerns (Abas and Wee, 2014). Recognizing the urgency of this issue, the government implemented several decisive policies. In specific terms, the Regulation on the Management of Household Waste was introduced in 2018, which mandated residents to segregate household waste, with fines imposed for non-compliance (You, 2018). Moreover, the commitment to

tackle this issue was further demonstrated in 2019 through educational campaigns in schools and communities (Guo et al., 2017). Under such policy pressure and the widespread dissemination of relevant garbage knowledge, the statistics from the National Bureau of Statistics of China (2020) reported that China's garbage recycling rate in 2020 was more than double that of 2015.

Another well-known sustainability program in China is the South-to-North Water Transfer Project. This project was designed due to the vastness of China's terrain and its uneven resource distribution, where the south boasts abundant water near its coastal cities and the north faces scarcity inland. To bridge this gap, the project ingeniously diverts water from the Yangtze River in the lush south to the arid northern terrains. Zhang (2009) recognized the transformative impact of this project, pointing out that it has irrigated over 10 million hectares of agricultural land and has provided a vital source of water to more than 100 million residents. Such visionary projects not only demonstrate China's pragmatic approach to resource management but also highlight the government's firm commitment to driving sustainable development forward.

China's Post-COVID Commitment to Sustainable Development

In the wake of the unexpected pandemic, the Chinese government adjusted its priorities. While long-term sustainability remains important, the government placed a greater emphasis on immediate concerns such as technology and the economy. The "14th Five-Year Plan" is a representative example. While it incorporates commendable projects such as the carbon peak and neutrality targets, its main focus is heavily on technological innovation and high-quality development.

Regarding sustainability, the "14th Five-Year Plan" has distinctly laid out the timeline and road map for achieving carbon peak and neutrality targets for the first time. For example, by promoting technologies focused on wind and solar energy for power generation, the plan sets a goal to reach or exceed an electricity generation capacity of 1.2 billion kilowatts from non-fossil fuels by 2030 (Shi and Shi, 2021). However, a more substantial portion of the "14th Five-Year Plan"

emphasises technology innovation and high-quality development. The Chinese government is making significant investments in digital infrastructure, firmly believing in its potential to transform agriculture, industrialisation, and urbanisation. Moreover, the promotion of internet technology has a dual purpose: propelling internal development and enhancing China's position on the global digital stage (Creemers et al., 2022).

Driving these shifts is the Chinese Communist Party's long-standing strategy of using economic growth as a tool to secure public approval. As Barry Naughton argued, sustained economic growth not only uplifts living standards but reinforces political power. Consequently, in the post-pandemic environment, while sustainability remains on the agenda, it has been temporarily overshadowed by the imperative of economic resurgence.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the Coronavirus pandemic has affected the sustainability agendas of the UK and China differently. While the UK deepened its commitment, China's focus on sustainability diminished in the post-pandemic period. This difference can be attributed to their respective pandemic timelines. The UK ended its restrictions by the end of 2021, whereas China did so in January 2023. China's peak pandemic response followed that of the UK, requiring a more urgent allocation of resources and attention. This explains why China places a higher emphasis on swift recovery and economic stability over sustainability efforts currently. Given the significant resources consumed by the pandemic, there is a pressing need for the Chinese government to prioritize immediate concerns, such as the economy, before returning to longer-term sustainability objectives.

Bibliography

Allan, G., Comerford, D., Connolly, K., McGregor, P., & Ross, A. G. (2020). "The economic and environmental impacts of UK offshore wind development: The importance of local content." Energy, 199, pp. 117436. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0360544220305430

Caldecott, B. (2022). "Defining transition finance and embedding it in the post Covid-19 recovery." Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment, 12(3), pp. 934-938. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/20430795.2020.1813478

Abas, M. A., & Wee, S. (2014). "Municipal solid waste management in Malaysia:Aninsighttowardssustainability."SSRN.https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2714755

Brundtland, G. H. (1987). "Report of the World Commission on environment and development: 'our common future.'" UN. http://ir.harambeeuniversity.edu.et/bitstream/handle/123456789/604/Our%20Co mmon%20Future%20World%20Commission%20on%20Environment%20and%2 oDevelopement.pdf

Chan, G., Goldstein, A. P., Bin-Nun, A., Diaz Anadon, L., & Narayanamurti, V. (2017). "Six principles for energy innovation." Nature, 552(7683), pp. 25-27. https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-017-07761-0

Creemers, R., Dorwart, H., Neville, K., & Schaefer, K. (2022). Translation: 14th Five-Year Plan for National Informatization–Dec. 2021, DigiChina at Stanford University. Available at: <u>https://digichina.stanford.edu/work/translation-14th-five-year-plan-for-national-in</u> formatization-dec-2021/ (Accessed: January 19, 2023).

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy and George Freeman MP. (2022) Government launches £1.5 million AI programme for reducing carbon emissions. GOV. UK. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-launches-15-million-aiprogramme-for-reducing-carbon-emissions (Accessed: January 19, 2023).

Goralski, M. A., & Tan, T. K. (2020). "Artificial intelligence and sustainable development." The International Journal of Management Education, 18(1), pp. 100330. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1472811719300138</u>

Guo, S., Ding, G., Zhao, Q., & Jiang, M. (2017). "Bonus point system for refuse classification and sustainable development: A study in China." Sustainability, 9(10), pp. 1776. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/9/10/1776</u>

Liebreich, M. (2013). "Bloomberg new energy finance summit." London: Bloomberg New Energy Finance, pp. 1-10. https://thecoalhub.com/wpcontent/uploads/attach_328.pdf

You, M. (2018). "Annual review of Chinese environmental law developments: 2017." Envtl. L. Rep. News & Analysis, 48, pp. 10389. https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage? handle=hein.journals/elrna48&div=57&id=&page=

National Bureau of Statistics of China. (2020). Recycling rate of household waste. Available at: http://www.stats.gov.cn/ (Accessed: January 19, 2023).

Naughton, B. J. (2006). The Chinese economy: Transitions and growth. MIT press. https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=Oys3AgAAQBAJ

Office for National Statistics. (2022) GDP and events in history: how the COVID-19 pandemic shocked the UK economy. Available at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/gdpandeven sinhistoryhowthecovid19pandemicshockedtheukeconomy/2022-05-24 (Accessed: January 19, 2023).

Schreurs, M. A., & Tiberghien, Y. (2010). "European Union leadership in climate change: mitigation through multilevel reinforcement." Global commons,

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-launches-15-million-aiprogramme-for-reducing-carbon-emissions (Accessed: January 19, 2023).

Goralski, M. A., & Tan, T. K. (2020). "Artificial intelligence and sustainable development." The International Journal of Management Education, 18(1), pp. 100330. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1472811719300138</u>

Guo, S., Ding, G., Zhao, Q., & Jiang, M. (2017). "Bonus point system for refuse classification and sustainable development: A study in China." Sustainability, 9(10), pp. 1776. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/9/10/1776</u>

Liebreich, M. (2013). "Bloomberg new energy finance summit." London: Bloomberg New Energy Finance, pp. 1-10. https://thecoalhub.com/wpcontent/uploads/attach_328.pdf

You, M. (2018). "Annual review of Chinese environmental law developments: 2017." Envtl. L. Rep. News & Analysis, 48, pp. 10389. https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage? handle=hein.journals/elrna48&div=57&id=&page=

National Bureau of Statistics of China. (2020). Recycling rate of household waste. Available at: http://www.stats.gov.cn/ (Accessed: January 19, 2023).

Naughton, B. J. (2006). The Chinese economy: Transitions and growth. MIT press. https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=Oys3AgAAQBAJ

Office for National Statistics. (2022) GDP and events in history: how the COVID-19 pandemic shocked the UK economy. Available at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/gdpandeven sinhistoryhowthecovid19pandemicshockedtheukeconomy/2022-05-24 (Accessed: January 19, 2023).

Schreurs, M. A., & Tiberghien, Y. (2010). "European Union leadership in climate change: mitigation through multilevel reinforcement." Global commons,

domestic decisions: The comparative politics of climate change, pp. 23-66. https://books.google.co.uk/books? hl=en&lr=&id=VsTxCwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA23&dq=Schreurs,+M.+A.,+%26+Ti berghien,+Y.+(2010).

Shi, Z., & Shi, X. (2021). 努力推动实现碳达峰碳中和目标 [Efforts to achieve carbon peak and carbon neutrality targets]. National Development and Reform Commission. Available at: <u>https://www.ndrc.gov.cn/wsdwhfz/202111/t2021111_1303691_ext.html</u> (Accessed: January 19, 2023).

Ward, D. J., & Inderwildi, O. R. (2013). "Global and local impacts of UK renewable energy policy." Energy & Environmental Science, 6(1), pp. 18-24. https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlehtml/2013/ee/c2ee22342b

Yang, H., Xia, J., Thompson, J. R., & Flower, R. J. (2017). "Urban construction and demolition waste and landfill failure in Shenzhen, China." Waste management, 63, pp. 393-396.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0956053X17300259

Zhang, Q. (2009). "The South-to-North Water Transfer Project of China: Environmental Implications and Monitoring Strategy 1." JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 45(5), pp. 1238-1247. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2009.00357.x